Ministry of the Environment

Danmarks Miljøundersøgelser Afd. for Flora- og Faunaøkologi Kalø, Grenåvej 12, 8410 Rønde

National Environmental Research Institute

1 4 JAN. 1992

# Emission of nitrous oxide in Denmark

Sources related to agriculture and natural ecosystems

NERI, Technical Report No. 18 1991

A. Priemé and S. Christensen Institute of Population Biology, University of Copenhagen Danmarks Miljøundersøgelser Afd, for Flora- og Faunaekologi

TITLE:

Emission of nitrous oxide in Denmark. Natural and agriculture

related sources

**AUTHOR:** 

Anders Priemé, Søren Christensen

**DIVISION:** 

Institute of Population Biology, University of Copenhagen

**PUBLISHER:** 

National Environmental Research Institute, DK

YEAR OF PUBLICATION: 1991

TYPING:

Linda West

ISBN:

87-7772-019-9

ISSN:

0905-815X

**NUBER OF PAGES:** 

45

**KEYWORDS:** 

Nitrous oxide, emission, Denmark, natural sources, agriculture

PLEASE QUOTE:

Priemé, A, Christensen, S. Emission of nitrous oxide in Denmark.

Natural and agriculture related sources. National Environmental

Research Institute. Report No. 18, 1991.

FOR SALE:

National Environmental Research Institute

Department of Emissions and Air Pollution

Frederiksborgvej 399, DK-4000 Roskilde, Denmark

Phone: +45 46 30 12 00

PRICE INCL. 22% VAT:

Dkr. 70,00 (excl. freight)

## **Contents**

#### Abstract 5

## Preface 5

- 1 Introduction 7
- 2 Atmospheric dynamics of nitrous oxide 8
- 3 Microbial processes and nitrous oxide 11
  - 3.1. Biological denitrification 11
  - 3.2. Chemical denitrification 12
  - 3.3. Nitrification 13
  - 3.4. Environmental factors controlling nitrous oxide forming processes 14
- 4 Nitrous oxide uptake by natural areas 16
- 5 Nitrous oxide emission from natural areas 16
  - 5.1. Cultivated soils 17
  - 5.2. Forest soils 19
  - 5.3. Other terrestrial systems 21
  - 5.4. Drainage water 21
  - 5.5. Groundwater 22
  - 5.6. Freshwater systems 22
  - 5.7. Coastal and marine areas 24
- 6 Discussion 25
- 7 Conclusion 28

#### References 28

## **Appendices** 38

Appendix 1a. Grasslands

Appendix 1b. Cropland

Appendix 2. Forests

Appendix 3. Freshwater systems

Appendix 4. Saltwater systems

1 14 m

w.

3

## **Abstract**

The present increase in concentration of atmospheric nitrous oxide  $(N_2O)$  of 0.2-0.35% yr<sup>-1</sup> has caused much concern, since nitrous oxide contributes to the greenhouse effect and to the destruction of stratospheric ozone  $(O_3)$ . The emissions in Denmark of nitrous oxide from natural and agriculture-related sources have been estimated.

It was found that present emissions from these sources are high above unperturbed natural emissions. Cultivated land is the most significant contributor of nitrous oxide. But the widespread use of N-fertilizers has profound effects on total emission through elevated emission from cultivated land and elevated emission from aquatic systems due to the fertilizer induced eutrophication.

It seems unrealistic to reduce the present emission to natural levels, but a significant reduction is possible if a reduction, and perhaps also a change, in N-fertilizer use is implemented. Further research in the potential of natural and agriculture-related sources is needed, if we are to understand the size and the dynamics of these sources.

## **Preface**

Scope

The much-debated greenhouse effect has caused concern among policy-makers as well as the public, since atmospheric concentrations of the socalled "greenhouse gases" are increasing and are expected to have profound effects on future global climate.

Although less known for its influence on the greenhouse effect than e.g. carbon dioxide ( $CO_2$ ) nitroux oxide ( $N_2O$ ) is indeed a very potent greenhouse gas which can not be ignored. In order to judge its effects it is essential not only to determine the direct anthropogenic emissions, but also the emission from natural ecosystems and human influence on the emission from these systems.

**Funding** 

The Ozone and Climate Committee of the Nordic Council of Ministers has initiated a study to establish budgets of greenhouse gases in the Nordic Countries. The present report is a background report for the Danish contribution to this study, which has been coordinated by the National Environmental Research Institute. The work on this report has been financed by the National Environmental Research Institute.

## Structure of the report

The report reviews the studies on emissions of nitrous oxide from agriculture and from natural ecosystems and it attempts to establish emission rates from these sources in Denmark. The emission rates are discussed briefly. As far as possible it has been attempted to estimate the human influence on the emission rates from natural ecosystems.

Also included in the report is introductory chapters on atmospheric and microbial dynamics of nitrous oxide (Chapters 2 and 3).

## Acknowledgements

Linda West turned the manuscript into a report and made it ready for printing. Jes Fenger inspired and encouraged. Many persons and institutions kindly assisted with valuable information and are quoted in the text.

## 1. Introduction

Increases in atmospheric concentration

At present the atmospheric concentration of nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) is increasing at 0.55-1.05 parts per billion volume (ppbv) or 0.20-0.35% per year (Weiss, 1981; Khalil, Rasmussen, 1983, 1986, 1988; Bolle et al., 1986; Brunke et al., 1990; Prinn et al., 1990; Rohde, 1990).

Analysis of air bubbles in polar ice cores suggest that the concentration of nitrous oxide over the past few hundred years must have increased from a pre-industrial level of 270-290 ppbv to the current concentration of about 310 ppbv (*Bolle et al.*, 1986; *Pearman et al.*, 1986; *Etheridge et al.*, 1988; *Khalil, Rasmussen*, 1988; *Zardini et al.*, 1989).

It is essential to note that the predominant rise of the atmospheric concentration of nitrous oxide is observed during this century (*Pearman et al.*, 1986; *Khalil, Rasmussen*, 1988), which is indicative for the influence of anthropogenic activities as sources for the increased concentration.

The presently observed rate of increase of atmospheric nitrous oxide may seem small. However, the lifetime (or residence time) of nitrous oxide in the atmosphere is relatively long (100-200 years) (*Khalil, Rasmussen*, 1983; *Bolle et al.*, 1986; *Cicerone*, 1987; *Khalil, Rasmussen*, 1988; *Zardini et al.*, 1989; *Prinn et al.*, 1990; *Rohde*, 1990) and the observed 0.2-0.35% increment imply that total global sources of nitrous oxide are now elevated by some 20 to 30% over unperturbed steady-state sources of about 13-14 Tg N<sub>2</sub>O-N yr<sup>-1</sup> (*Kaplan*, 1984; *Dickinson*, *Cicerone*, 1986; *Khalil*, *Rasmussen*, 1988; *Bouwman*, 1990).

The increasing flux from industrial combustion along with land use changes especially in the tropics, increased use of N-fertilizers, and increased biomass burning probably account for most of the observed increase in atmospheric concentration (Weiss, 1981; Bolle et al., 1986; Hao et al., 1987; Bouwman, 1989; Prinn et al., 1990).

Major global sources

The emission from cultivated soils (2-4 Tg N<sub>2</sub>O-N yr<sup>-1</sup>, which includes an estimated increase in emission of 0.6-2.3 Tg N<sub>2</sub>O-N yr<sup>-1</sup> resulting from the application of mineral fertilizers in agriculture), natural soils (3-9 Tg N<sub>2</sub>O-N yr<sup>-1</sup>), fossil fuel burning (1 Tg N<sub>2</sub>O-N yr<sup>-1</sup>), oceans (including estuaries) (1-4.4 Tg N<sub>2</sub>O-N yr<sup>-1</sup>) and biomass burning (1-2 Tg N<sub>2</sub>O-N yr<sup>-1</sup>) at present form the major sources in the global nitrous oxide budget (*Kaplan*, 1984; *Schmidt et al.*, 1988; *Zardini et al.*, 1989; *Bouwman*, 1990).

These estimates are still highly uncertain. E.g. a 7-8 Tg N<sub>2</sub>O-N yr<sup>-1</sup> has been suggested for tropical wet and moist forests alone (*Kaplan*, 1984); the measurements made so far on fossil fuel emssions might be incorrect (*Muzio*, *Kramlich*, 1988; *Bouwman*, 1990). Further *Bouwman* (1989) gives much wider ranges when estimating global nitrous oxide emssions from cultivated soils (0.3-28 Tg N<sub>2</sub>O-N yr<sup>-1</sup>) and natural soils (11-27 Tg N<sub>2</sub>O-N yr<sup>-1</sup>).

Variations in fluxes

Estimates of regional and global emissions of nitrous oxide are impeded by the extreme spatial and temporal variations in measured fluxes and the currently used measurement techniques, often involving small flux-chambers, which make the extrapolation of these fluxes a difficult task. Moreover, emission rates from natural ecosystems are severely underrepresented in existing data.

This study will only consider natural and agriculture-related sources of nitrous oxide in Denmark. All nitrous oxide emission rates are given as weight of nitrogen-nitrous oxide  $(N-N_2O)$  and not as total weight of nitrous oxide  $(N_2O)$ .

## 2. Atmospheric dynamics of nitrous oxide

Nitrous oxide plays important roles in the chemistry of the atmosphere and in the radiation budget of the Earth. A continued increase in the atmospheric burden can be expected to have a significant impact on stratospheric ozone (O<sub>3</sub>) and global climate.

Atmospheric reactions

Because nitrous oxide is inert in the troposphere (*Banin*, 1986; *Cicerone*, 1987), it can be transported into the stratosphere where most of it is decomposed through:

(1) 
$$N_2O + hv \rightarrow N_2 + O$$

About 5% of the nitrous oxide is photolytically oxidized to nitric oxide (NO) via:

$$(2) \qquad O_3 + h\nu \rightarrow O^{\cdot} + O_2$$

(3) 
$$O^{\cdot} + N_2O \rightarrow 2 \text{ NO (Cicerone, 1987)}$$

The total atmospheric destruction of nitrous oxide has been estimated to be about 10.5 Tg  $N_2O-N$  yr<sup>-1</sup> (*Bouwman*, 1990).

Nitric oxide is a much more reactive gas and catalyses the conversion of ozone to molecular oxygen  $(O_2)$  in the stratosphere according to the reactions:

(4) 
$$O_3 + hv \rightarrow O' + O_2$$

$$(5) \qquad O^{\cdot} + NO_2 \rightarrow NO + O_2$$

(6) NO + O<sub>3</sub> 
$$\rightarrow$$
 NO<sub>2</sub> + O<sub>2</sub>

With the net result:

(7)  $2 O_3 \rightarrow 3 O_2$  (Kaplan, 1984; Banin, 1986; Bouwman, 1990)

Impact on ozone

The stratospheric ozone is located between 10 and 40 km altitude. Below 25 km ozone is formed under the influence of different nitrogenous oxides ( $NO_x$ ) and in this 10-25 km region of the stratosphere  $NO_x$  thus counteracts the above-mentioned set of reactions (4) - (7). Above 25 km the  $NO_x$  additions from nitrous oxide decrease the ozone concentration, whereas below 25 km  $NO_x$  protects ozone from destruction (*Bouwman*, 1990).

Ozone is an important component of the stratosphere. It serves as a shield against biologically harmful solar ultraviolet (UV) radiation, initiates key stratospheric chemical reactions, and transforms solar radiation into the mechanical energy of atmospheric winds and heat (*Cicerone*, 1987). Banin et al. (1984) have estimated an average decrease of 1.5% in ozone column per 10% increase in nitrous oxide concentrations.

Infrared absorption bands

Besides its important roles in stratospheric chemistry, nitrous oxide has strong infrared (IR) absorption bands at 4.5, 7.78, 8.56 and 17 micrometer (Wang, Sze, 1980; Banin, 1986; Mitchell, 1989) and thus contributes to the green-house effect. Nitrous oxide is also the precursor to e.g. stratospheric nitric acid (HNO<sub>3</sub>) which has IR absorption bands at 5.9, 7.5, 11.3, and 21.8 micrometer (Wang, Sze, 1980). Consequently, changes in nitric acid may also affect the global radiation budget.

Warming potential

Because greenhouse gases have different lifetimes, the relative cumulative impact of each mole of gas may be quite different from its relative initial impact. Therefore, the relative warming potential of given greenhouse gas emissions must be considered, rather than the relative radiative forcing of changes in atmospheric concentrations. Nitrous oxide has an instantaneous impact, 250 times greater than carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) (2.8 and 0.015 Wm<sup>-2</sup>ppm<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, *Lashof*, *Ahuja*, 1990). The decay of nitrous oxide in the atmosphere roughly follows a simple exponential relation. However, this does not apply to carbon dioxide. Thus, due to their differing decay-functions the cumulative effect of nitrous oxide compared to carbon dioxide depends on the time period. Assuming a hundred years time period the atmospheric lifetime is 120 years, compared to the lifetime of nitrous oxide of 100-200 years (*Rohde*, 1990). At this time period the cumulative impact (and global warming potential) of nitrous oxide is about 300 times greater than for carbon dioxide.

In the future, the atmospheric lifetime of nitrous oxide could decrease if the ozone concentration decreases above 30 km altitude because increased UV radiation just below 30 km would increase the rate of nitrous oxide protolysis (Ramanathan et al., 1985). This would lower the relative impact of nitrous oxide. The present contribution of nitrous oxide to global warming relative to other greenhouse gases has been estimated to 3.1% (Lashof, Ahuja, 1990), 4% (Bouwman, 1990), and 5% (Rohde, 1990).

Future increases The papers consulted during this study leave no doubt that the concentration of atmospheric nitrous oxide will undergo further increases with time because of increasing rates of fossil fuel burning and application of mineral fertilizers. This is also due to the fact that atmospheric nitrous oxide concentrations are not yet in equilibrium with the strength of the global sources, even if these are constant because of the long lifetime of nitrous oxide.

The concentration has been estimated to increase to 320-330 ppbv by year 2000 (Dickinson, Cicerone, 1986), to 360-390 ppbv by year 2030-35 (Khalil, Rasmussen, 1983; Ramanathan et al., 1985, 1987; Khalil, Rasmussen, 1988; Mitchell, 1989), 350-450 ppbv by year 2050 (Dickinson, Cicerone, 1986; Hao et al., 1987), and 440-1430 ppbv by year 2100 (Ramanathan et al., 1987).

Effects of future increases

Some authors have tried to estimate the effect on global climate by future increased nitrous oxide levels. Wang and Sze (1980) suggests that a doubling of present levels might contribute 0.44K to global warming plus an additional 0.23K resulting from the associated climatic feedbacks from ozone and nitric acid perturbations. Khalil and Rasmussen (1983) and Ramanathan et al. (1985, 1987) have estimated that an increase of 25% in atmospheric nitrous oxide (which is reached in 50 years at present rates of increase) will cause a global average temperature rise of 0.1K-0.6K.

The total effect of the different greenhouse gases is expected to cause an increase in the average global temperature of 0.8 to 4.5K some time around the middle of the next century (*Dickinson, Cicerone*, 1986; *Ramanathan et al.*, 1987). When global warming occurs as a result of the greenhouse effect there is a potential for additional increases of nitrous oxide emissions from biogenic sources due to the effects of changes in soil and water temperature and of soil moisture status on microbial metabolism.

A warmer temperature regime would increase biological activities leading to greater production of nitrous oxide from soils and water systems. Using a general circulation model (GCM) *Turner et al.* (1990) found that for the pacific northwest region of the United States denitrification and thus potential nitrous oxide emissions were 1.7 times greater when simulating a climate with a doubled CO<sub>2</sub> concentration which was 4.9K warmer and 3.5% wetter than present climate.

Feedback mechanisms Melting of the upper layers of permafrost in the high arctic could add more nitrous oxide to the atmosphere. The combined response of wetlands and permafrost to increased temperature may add as much or more nitrous oxide to the atmosphere than expected from the increasing anthropogenic sources (*Khalil, Rasmussen*, 1989).

A potential positive feedback mechanism between emission rates of biogenic nitrous oxide and global warming is supported by analysis of air bubbles in polar ice cores which have shown that the nitrous oxide concentration was lower during periods of global cooling (*Khalil, Rasmussen*, 1989).

The global warming that has apparently occured may already have produced about 20% of the increase of nitrous oxide between pre-industrial times and the present (*Khalil, Rasmsussen*, 1989). As increases in nitrous oxide flux from soils and water systems will usually be small relative to the total pool of soil nitrogen, the increase in flux of nitrous oxide could probably last for decades or centuries.

## 3. Microbial processes and nitrous oxide

Several enzymatic processes involve nitrous oxide. Two microbial processes, biological denitrification and nitrification, are regarded as the main sources for nitrous oxide. Biological denitrification is also a sink for nitrous oxide since nitrous oxide is a free intermediate of the reaction whereas the role of nitrification as sink for nitrous oxide sink is unknown.

## 3.1. Biological denitrification

Biological denitrification is the dissimilatory reduction of nitrate  $(NO_3)$  and nitrite  $(NO_2)$  to gaseous forms of nitrogen by facultatively anaerobic bacteria producing molecular nitrogen  $(N_2)$  or oxides of nitrogen, like nitrous oxide, when oxygen is limiting.

The general pathway of the reduction of nitrate (and nitrite) during denitrification is:

(8) 
$$NO_3^- \rightarrow NO_2^- \rightarrow NO \rightarrow N_2O \rightarrow N_2$$

The energy for these reactions is supplied by the decomposition of carbohydrates.

No universal relationship between gases procuced

Denitrifying bacteria are aerobic, but in the absence of oxygen they use nitrate as an electron acceptor for growth. Denitrification occurs only at low oxygen pressures. Most denitrifying bacteria can reduce nitrous oxide to molecular nitrogen. The N<sub>2</sub>:N<sub>2</sub>O and N<sub>2</sub>O:NO ratios in the gas evolved during denitrification is highly variable, and there is no universal relationship between these ratios and total denitrification. Low pH, high nitrate concentration, low availability of organic matter, low soil moisture content are the major prerequisites for a high fraction of nitrous oxide to total denitrification gases, but the relative importance of these parameters are difficult to assess (Sahrawat, Keeney, 1986; Keller et al., 1988; Nommik, Larsson, 1989; Arah, Smith, 1990).

The shift in the N<sub>2</sub>O:N<sub>2</sub> ratio within soil environments can be very dramatic, and nitrous oxide producing systems can thereby switch into nitrous oxide sinks.

There is also evidence that *Rhizobia* bacteria may induce significant losses of nitrous oxide from leguminous crops and natural ecosystems with leguminous plants (*Bertelsen*, 1990; *Bouwman*, 1990). But more work needs to be done to clarify the importance of rhizobial denitrification.

#### 3.2. Chemical denitrification

Chemical denitrification is the reduction of nitrite or nitrate by chemical reductants producing molecular nitrogen or oxides of nitrogen, like nitrous oxide.

Controversial proces

However, there is much controversy as to the importance of chemical denitrification. Chemical denitrification is supposed to occur especially following the addition of ammonium fertilizers and at high nitrite concentrations which have been attributed to the inhibition of bacterial oxidation of nitrite presumably as a result of ammonia toxicity.

Chemical denitrification may be of importance at times in neutral to alkaline soils where nitrite-accumulation is a problem (Sahrawat, Keeney, 1986). However, it has been found that the gas formed consists predominantly of nitric oxide which has led to the conclusion that chemical denitrification usually do not significantly contribute to nitrous oxide production.

Unless otherwise stated the term denitrification will imply biological denitrification in this report.

### 3.3. Nitrification

Nitrification is the biological oxidation of ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub>) to nitrite or nitrate.

It is carried out by highly specialized autotrophic bacteria and by a multitude of heterotrophic microorganisms.

Except for oxygen-deficient systems like poorly drained and submerged soils, ammonia is used as an energy source and is readily converted to nitrate by nitrification:

(9) 
$$NH_3/NH_4^+ \rightarrow NH_2OH \rightarrow NO_2^- \rightarrow NO_3^-$$

Occurs under aerobic conditions

Contrary to denitrification, nitrification occurs under aerobic conditions. However, it is often found that the formation rate of nitrous oxide during nitrification increases as the oxygen concentration decreases (*Klemedtsson et al.*, 1988).

The chemical pathways leading to nitrous oxide production during nitrification are not clearly understood. Nitrite is most likely used as an alternative electron acceptor at low oxygen concentrations, resulting in the evolution of nitrous oxide (*Poth*, *Focht*, 1985; *Sahrawat*, *Keeney*, 1986).

Minami, Fukushi (1986) suggest that in well-aerated soils hydroxylamine may react with nitrite forming nitrous oxide. However, this reaction is not as important as nitrite reduction for nitrous oxide production during nitrification (Bouwman, 1990).

In well-aerated soils emissions of nitrous oxide are greatly increased by the addition of nitrifiable forms of nitrogen such as ammonia and urea (*Breitenbeck et al.*, 1980; *Breitenbeck, Bremner*, 1986b).

Traditionally, denitrification has been considered the main source of nitrous oxide emission from different ecosystems and it is generally assumed that nitrification is of limited importance in permanent grasslands and forest soils receiving no fertilizers (Richards, 1987; Robertson, Tiedje, 1987). However, studies in agricultural ecosystems indicate that nitrification can contribute significantly (e.g. Bremner, Blackmer, 1981; Robertson, Tiedje, 1984; Cates, Keeney, 1987) and might even be dominant over denitrification until soils become very wet (Parton, 1988). It may also represent a major source of nitrous oxide in marine environments (Elkins et al., 1978).

## 3.4. Environmental factors controlling nitrous oxide forming processes

It is extremely difficult to predict the amount of nitrous oxide produced in an environment for two reasons: 1) nitrous oxide is a product as well as a substrate for the microbial processes, and 2) the shift of nitrous oxide from product to substrate can occur by minute changes in highly variable parameters such as easily available carbon or soil water contents.

Oxygen and soil water status

Denitrification in soils is negligible at soil moistures below 2/3 of the water holding capacity, but the process may occur in anaerobic microsites within an otherwise aerobic soil (*Parkin*, 1987; *Bouwman*, 1990; *Christensen*, 1990). In aquatic systems the sediments are usually anaerobic and thus holds good conditions for denitrification.

A tendency for increased nitrous oxide release has been observed with improved aeration status of soils. This might be caused by a slowdown of the denitrification process (allowing more nitrous oxide to escape unreduced) or by stimulation of nitrification of ammonia whereby nitrous oxide may be one of the products.

The release of nitrous oxide from soils is stimulated by alternating drying and wetting cycles. When the soil is wetted conditions for denitrification are favoured and nitrous oxide will be produced more rapidly than it is reduced. Irrigation and precipitation are often followed by rapid increases in nitrous oxide emssions (Ryden, Lund, 1980; Mosier, Hutchinson, 1981; Mosier et al., 1982; Goodroad et al., 1984). If the soil dries fast enough, nitrous oxide reduction to molecular nitrogen is prevented.

Continous flooding as found in aquatic environments makes molecular nitrogen the main product of denitrification with little nitrous oxide production (*Denmead et al.*, 1979; *Smith et al.*, 1982; *Goodroad, Keeney*, 1986a; *Sahrawat, Keeney*, 1986; *Van Breemen, Feijtel*, 1990).

Soil texture can also influence the extent of anaerobic sites in a soil. Compared to e.g. a sandy soil a heavy clay soil will contribute more to the development of anaerobic conditions thereby giving higher rates of denitrification (*Burford et al.*, 1981; *Nommik, Larson*, 1989).

Temperature

There is a strong diurnal variation of nitrous oxide emission rates (e.g. *Christensen*, 1983; *Minami*, 1987) and a great seasonal variability (e.g. *Bremner et al.*, 1980) partly as a result of temperature changes.

The optimum temperature for the denitrification process is 25°C and above, while the process is slow at 2°C. In nitrification the temperature optimum lies between 30 and 35°C, while below 5°C the activity is very low (*Bouwman*, 1990).

Both the rate of emission and the form of the products of denitrification and nitrification depend on temperature. Important losses of nitrous oxide from soils has been reported at quite low temperatures, like 8°C and large emissions can be observed during spring thaw (Goodroad, Keeney, 1985; Cates, Keeney, 1987b; Schmidt et al., 1988; Christensen, Tiedje, 1990).

Nitrate

A high concentration of nitrate often results in a high level of denitrification and also in a high ratio of nitrous oxide to molecular nitrogen as products of the denitrification process (e.g. *Christensen*, 1985b).

Soil organic matter

A good supply of readily decomposable organic matter feeds denitrification with energy and nitrification with ammonia (*Burford et al.*, 1981; *Sahrawat*, *Keeney*, 1986). Nitrous oxide fluxes from organic soils can be many times higher than in mineral soils (*Duxbury et al.*, 1982).

pH

Many of the denitrifying bacteria are sensitive to high hydrogen ion concentrations. However, under certain conditions denitrification may still be rapid at pH 4.7 (*Bouwman*, 1990).

Typically, the rate of nitrification falls off markedly below pH 6.0 and generally becomes negligible below pH 5.0, but some soils nitrify at pH 4.0 due to the presence of acid-adapted strains or chemical differences between the habitats (*Richards*, 1987).

In denitrification the composition of the gaseous products is governed by pH. From acid habitats nitrous oxide frequently makes up more than half of the gases evolved (*Bouwman*, 1990). Virtually no N<sub>2</sub> information is found at or below pH 5 (*Christensen*, 1985a; *Christensen et al.*, 1990). At low pH nitrate also inhibits nitrous oxide reduction to molecular nitrogen but at higher pH this inhibition is only temporary.

The interactions between pH and nitrous oxide emission are very complex and emissions are not always correlated to hydrogen ion concentrations (see e.g. Weier, Gilliam (1986) and Goodroad et al. (1984)), though sometimes rates of emission will increase with increases in pH (Goodroad, Keeney, 1984b).

Plant cover

Plant growth may stimulate denitrification by providing easily decomposable carbon substrates and by consuming oxygen (Vinther, 1984; Beck, Christensen, 1987; Klemedtsson et al., 1987; Umarov, 1990; Christensen et al., 1991). On the other hand, plants may reduce denitrification and also the nitrous oxide fraction of the gaseous products by depleting the inorganic nitrogen-pool (Klemedtsson et al., 1987; Bouwman, 1990).

## 4. Nitrous oxide uptake by natural areas

Under certain circumstances aquatic systems (Cohen, 1978; Elkins et al., 1978; Chan, Knowles, 1979) and soil systems (Blackmer, Bremner, 1976; Brice et al., 1977; Bremner et al., 1980; Ryden, 1981, 1983) can act as sinks for atmospheric nitrous oxide. This is, however, not considered as globally significant (Knowles, 1985) and nitrous oxide consumption is rarely of such a strength as to cause depletion of nitrous oxide from the surrounding air.

Virtually all denitrifying bacteria have the capacity to reduce nitrous oxide to molecular nitrogen (Blackmer, Bremner, 1976; Knowles, 1985). Ryden (1981) found that the prevailing soil conditions during periods of sink activity in a grassland soil were moderate to high (>20%) soil water content. Even small levels of nitrate seem to suppress nitrous oxide consumption in both aquatic (Chan, Knowles, 1979) and terrestrial systems (Blackmer, Bremner, 1976; Firestone et al, 1979; Ryden, 1981, 1983).

Negligible sink strength

It is very likely that only a negligible area of natural ecosystems in Denmark are actually acting as sinks for atmospheric nitrous oxide.

It is important to bear in mind that even though a system does not act as a sink for nitrous oxide a significant proportion of the nitrous oxide evolved might be consumed by the system itself before entering the atmosphere. It has been observed that denitrifiers can act as a sink for nitrous oxide produced by other sources in the system (*Robertson*, *Tiedje*, 1987).

More work needs to be done to establish the importance of nitrous oxide consumption by microorganisms as nitrous oxide produced in subsoils and water columns diffuse to the soil or water surface, and also on the influence of land-use changes and nitrate concentration on nitrous oxide consumption.

## 5. Nitrous oxide emission from natural areas

Estimates of regional and global emissions of nitrous oxide from soils are hampered by large, both spatial and temporal, variations in measured flows. The size of reported nitrous oxide emissions from comparable soils often range over one or two orders of magnitude.

Besides this, very little work on nitrous oxide fluxes has been carried out on Danish soils. Most fluxes used in the following chapters are from sites with edaphic and climatic conditions which compares fairly well to Danish conditions. Also, levels of nitrous oxide emissions seem to be determined by a complex array of management and environmental factors that can not easily be transferred from one site to another.

Summarizing, emission from soils is a poorly understood source of nitrous oxide. Unlike emission from e.g. combustion of fossil fuels the processes governing the fluxes from soils are like a "black box" which we are only starting to understand. It is noted that all measurements of nitrous oxide emission rates from terrestrial systems have been carried out at the soil surface and hence do not consider any possible production or consumption of nitrous oxide in e.g. forest canopies.

#### 5.1. Cultivated soils

Much of work has been carried out on nitrous oxide emission from cultivated soils in temperate or near-temperate regions (see appendix 1, which summarizes the reports on fluxes from cultivated soils in these regions).

However, as emission rates depend on a complex array of factors like soil structure, pH, climate, crops, C-content of the soil, water status, and amount and kind of N-fertilizer cultivated soils show a wide range of emission rates from -0.6 to 165 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>.

First
approach:
Amount of
applied
fertilizer

Besides moisture status of the soil, the single most important factor influencing nitrous oxide emission from cultivated soils seems to be the level of N-fertilizer application. *Bouwman* (1990) found the following mathematical relation between N-fertilizer application and emssion rate for croplands in temperate regions, excluding application rates of over 250 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> as well as poorly drained soils:

(10) 
$$N_2O$$
 emission (kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) = 1.8785 + 0.00417 \* N-fertilizer level (kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>)

Though the data are more limited a more steep relationship seems to exist between emission rates from grasslands and N-fertilizer application (see *Bouwman* 1990). The relationship is assumed to be double as steep as for ordinary cropland. In Denmark cultivated land (excluding grasslands) covers 2 227 000 ha (*Danmarks Statistik*, 1990). An average of 194 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> is applied as fertilizer (135 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> as commercial fertilizer (*Danmarks Statistik*, 1990) and 59 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> as manure (*Danmarks Statistik*, 1986)). This results in an emission rate of 2.7 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> and a total emission of nitrous oxide of 6.0 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>.

Permanent grasslands out of rotation and grasslands in rotation cover 219 000 ha and 328 000 ha, respectively (*Danmarks Statistik*, 1990). Permanent grasslands are assumed to receive 59 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> of manure on average from grazing livestock. Grasslands in rotation receive a total of

approximately 300 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (*Jensen, Reenberg*, 1986; *Danmarks Statistik*, 1990). From permanent grasslands and grasslands in rotation estimated emission rates are thus 2.4 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> and 4.3 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> resulting in total emissions of 0.5 kt yr<sup>-1</sup> and 1.4 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>, respectively.

Second
approach:
Loss of
fertilizer

Eichner (1990) has rewieved the litterature on N-fertilizer-induced nitrous oxide emissions. She gives an average annual emission from soils planted with grains of 0.0099 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> per kg N- fertilizer applied. The same value for grasslands is 0.017 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> kg N<sup>-1</sup>. Using these data total emission from cropland is 4.3 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>, from permanent grassland 0.2 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>, and from grassland in rotation 1.6 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>, totalling 6.1 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>.

Third approach: Effect of fertilizer type

A third approach is estimating the total emission from the percentage of applied N-fertilizers lost as nitrous oxide. This value depends on fertilizer type with losses of 2.7% for anhydrous ammonia, 0.44% for ammonium nitrate, 0.25% for ammonium chloride and sulphate, 0.11% for urea, and 0.07% for nitrate (*Eichner*, 1990). The corresponding value for manure depends on the type of manure (*Bremner*, *Blackmer*, 1981), but an estimated general factor of 0.5% seems appropiate.

Galbally (1985) reviewed fertilizer-loss as nitrous oxide and found that each of the emission factors varies by a factor of five around the median value; then estimating nitrous oxide fluxes from fertilizer application is subject to a great deal of uncertainties.

It must be noted that the emission factor for anhydrous ammonia (2.7%) is based on very few reports (Bremner et al., 1981; Breitenbeck, Bremner, 1986a, 1986b) of which only one (Breitenbeck, Bremner, 1986a) compared the loss of anhydrous ammonia with the loss from other types of fertilizer applied to the same soils. It must be noted that Hutchinson and Mosier (1979) found a smaller loss (1.3%) of applied anhydrous ammonia, and that their report is not included in the rewiev by Eichner (1990).

Breitenbeck and Bremner (1986a, 1986b) explain the high nitrous oxide loss from anhydrous ammonia by the method of applying this fertilizer by injection into the soil which produces highly alkaline zones of high ammonium-N concentration that do not occur when urea or aquous ammonia fertilizers are broadcast and incorporated into the soil. The annual use of commercial fertilizers in Denmark by fertilizer type is: 80.2 kt anhydrous ammonia, 286.9 kt ammonia nitrate, 0.5 kt ammonium chloride and sulphate, 5.2 kt urea, and 4.2 kt calcium, potassium and sodium nitrate (Danmarks Statistik, 1990; Plantedirektoratet, 1990) and about 83.8 kt of manure (Danmarks Statistik, 1986).

Thus, total fertilizer-induced emission from cultivated soils is 3.9 kt yr<sup>-1</sup> plus non-fertilizer-induced emission which is around 4.3 kt yr<sup>-1</sup> (an emission

factor of 1.6 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> is the average from unfertilized cropland and grassland soils according to appendix 1) totalling 8.2 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>.

Other contributions

The estimates above have not considered the contribution of nitrogen from precipitation, irrigation and sludge which add an average of 12-22 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> to the farmland (*Danmarks Statistik et al.*, 1990). This might raise the above total emission rates (first to third approach) by 5-10% resulting in a total emission of nitrous oxide from cultivated soils in Denmark of 6.4-9.0 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>.

The median of this range suggests a total emission rate of 7.7 kt yr<sup>-1</sup> for cultivated land. This value is shown in Table 1. This estimate is highly uncertain, however, and a more appropriate range is 3-15 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>.

A lesser known factor in nitrous oxide fluxes from cultivated soils is irrigation. It has been found (for Californian climate, though) that emission from irrigated and fertilized soils can be several times higher than from non-irrigated soils (*Ryden*, *Lund*, 1980). These very high fluxes are probably connected to the combination of irrigation, very high levels of N-fertilizer application, and a warm climate.

In 1982 400 000 ha, or 14%, of the cultivated land in Denmark had facilities for irrigation and another 25 000 ha, or 1%, is added annually (*Jensen, Reenberg*, 1986). But until more work has been done on the influence of irrigation no estimate on the emission from irrigated soils in Denmark can be given.

**Trends** 

Since 1980 the total area of cultivated land has decreased by about 14 500 ha yr<sup>-1</sup> (*Danmarks Statistik*, 1990) of which 10 000 ha yr<sup>-1</sup> has been given over to infrastructure and municipal development (*Skov- og Naturstyrelsen*, 1988). A decline of 14 500 ha yr<sup>-1</sup> corresponds to an annual decline in nitrous oxide emission from cultivated land of about 0.03-0.05 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>. It might be expected that in the coming years even more farmland will be converted to other uses as farmers are inclined to give up less productive areas.

In this century the use of N-fertilizers has increased dramatically, but during the last five years the consumption per ha has remained unchanged (*Danmarks Statistik*, 1990).

#### 5.2. Forest soils

Only little has been reported on nitrous oxide emission from temperate forest soils (see appendix 2).

As nitrous oxide emission from cultivated soils seems to be tightly linked to N-fertilization the same is assumed to apply to forest soils (see *Keller et al.*, 1988). None of the works cited in appendix 2 state what the investigated

forest sites had received any N- fertilizer, but presumably they had not. In Denmark the use of N- fertilizers in forestry is very limited, averaging less than 1 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (*Plum*, 1991).

Unlike most cultivated soils which are usually limed, forest soils often have a low pH which is likely to influence nitrous oxide emission. In acid forest soils bacterial nitrification and denitrification are assumed to be restricted by the acidity. In these soils assimilatory nitrate-reducing fungi, which are considered to be of minor importance in agricultural soils, may be the most important nitrous oxide producers (*Klemedtsson*, *Svensson*, 1988).

Nitrous oxide production in soil cores from forest sites indicate that nitrous oxide production in forest soils under some circumstances are enhanced by low soil pH (*Martikainen*, 1985). But too little is known about the effect of pH on the emission of nitrous oxide from forest soils to speculate about the effects of liming forests.

The limited data in appendix 2 can not justify separate values for nitrous oxide emissions for different forest types: the emission rate for the Wisconsin coniferous forest seems higher than for the deciduous sites but this coniferous forest was situated on a fairly fertile soil quite unlike the Danish coniferous forests which are often situated on poor soils.

The average emission rates from the forests listed in appendix 2 are about 1.0 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. Due to their large ranges the Swedish sites have been excluded from this calculation, the same apply to the Danish waterlogged alder stand which due to its very special environmental conditions can not be considered representive for an average Danish forest.

At the latest forest survey in 1976, Denmark had 406 000 ha of forest (*Danmarks Statistik*, 1983). Since 1976 about 1500 ha have been planted with forest each year (*Skov- og Naturstyrelsen*, 1990) giving an estimated total forest area of about 427 000 ha in 1990. This correspond to a total emission of nitrous oxide from forest soils of 0.4 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>.

The Danish Ministry for the Environment has put as a goal that the total forested area in Denmark will double within the next 80-100 years (*Skov- og Naturstyrelsen*, 1988). It is of course uncertain how much forest will actually be planted during the next decades. Estimates ranging from 50 000 to 500 000 ha have been given but 5000 ha yr<sup>-1</sup> seems appropriate (*Skov- og Naturstyrelsen*, 1990). The present 1500 ha of newly planted forest per year correspond to an annual increase in source strength of forest soils of 0.002 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>.

**Trends** 

### 5.3. Other terrestrial systems

About 70 000 ha of Denmark are covered by heathland and moors while another 7600 ha are covered by natural commons situated on well-drained soils (*Danmarks Statistik et al.*, 1990).

No value for the emission factor from sites comparable to these areas could be found in the litterature. But since they are all situated on poor and often well drained soils with a low turn-over of nitrogen it is expected that the emission rates are small. North American prairies might be comparable to these areas with respect to nitrous oxide emission. *Bouwman* (1990) states that temperate forests produce more nitrous oxide than prairies.

Assuming that the nitrous oxide emission rate from heathlands, moors, and commons is half the value for temperate forests then these lands emit about 0.55 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (which is in accordance with *Galbally* (1985)) giving a total emission of 0.04 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>.

## 5.4. Drainage water

An overlooked source of atmospheric nitrous oxide is the degassing from drainage water from cultivated land and disturbed land like newly clear-cut forests.

Very few workers have adressed the potential of nitrous oxide emissions from drainage water, but the scattered reports indicate that drainage water might be an important source of atmospheric nitrous oxide (*Dowdell et al.*, 1979; *Conrad et al.*, 1983; *Bowden, Bormann*, 1986; *Minami, Ohsawa*, 1990).

It has been found that nitrous oxide flux from drainage water from a japanese vegetable field (*Minami*, *Ohsawa*, 1990) and from english fields during winter and spring (*Dowdell et al.*, 1979) are comparable to or even higher than from the field itself. *Minami*, *Fukushi* (1984) measured nitrous oxide emission of 17.5-104 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> in drainage water from cultivated soils.

Minami, Ohsawa (1990) found that the amount of dissolved nitrous oxide in drainage water correlated well with nitrate concentration, which indicates that the source strength of drainage water from cultivated land depends on the amount of applied N-fertilizer.

Bowden, Bormann (1986) found that the export of nitrous oxide by degassing of soil water from a clear-cut forest was similar to the soil-air diffusion from the logged area, but that the emission from drainage water from an undisturbed forest site was insignificant.

The assumption that the amount of nitrous oxide emitted from drainage water seeping from cultivated land or clear-cut forest, is equal to the direct fluxes from soil surfaces of cultivated land and clear-cut forest, makes drainage water a major source of nitrous oxide.

Water from cultivated land

As the fluxes measured by *Dowdell et al.* (1979) cover the season with excess precipitation over evapotranspiration and as *Minami*, *Ohsawa* (1990) reported fluxes from a japanese field receiving 500 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> as fertilizer, a much lower total emission from drainage water from cultivated soils in Denmark is expected. It seems more likely that drainage water from cultivated land emit 5-50% of the nitrous oxide emission from the soil surface of cultivated soils, giving a total emission of 0.35 to 3.5 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>.

Drainage water from clear-cut forests

Unfortunately, data on the area of forest that is annually clear-cut are not easily available (*Hedegaard*, 1991). But as e.g. the Danish beechwood forests are rarely clear-cut the annual area of clear-cut forest is probably only 1% of the total forest area amounting to around 4000 ha. Drainage water from clear-cut forest sites thus seems to be a negligible source of nitrous oxide in Denmark.

#### 5.5. Groundwater

Ronen et al. (1988) found that groundwater contaminated by anthropogenic activities can contain high levels of nitrous oxide. Jacobsen and Vinther (1990) also found very high concentrations of nitrous oxide in a cultivated sandy soil at just above the saturated zone. However, it is not known how much of this nitrous oxide will eventually be released to the atmosphere through 1) springs and streams that are groundwater outlets, 2) through marine environments where groundwater discharges, and 3) as a result of the use of groundwater on the land surface for municipal and agricultural purposes. Alternatively, the nitrous oxide will be biologically converted to molecular nitrogen.

Based on this scanty evidence it is not possible to estimate the release of nitrous oxide from groundwater to the atmosphere in Denmark.

## 5.6. Freshwater systems

Due to the waterlogged conditions in sediments of freshwater systems the potential for denitrification is generally high and apparently denitrification is paramount to nitrification as a source of nitrous oxide in these systems. However, the nitrous oxide emission is usually small compared to terrestrial

systems since denitrification is limited by low nitrate concentrations in the anaerobic zone and furthermore mainly produces molecular nitrogen at these conditions.

The litterature only gives very little information on nitrous oxide fluxes from freshwater systems (appendix 3) and emission rates range between 0.1 and  $2.7 \text{ kg N-N}_2\text{O ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$ .

Nitrogen loading

The values given in appendix 3 are too few to allow any reliable estimate of the nitrous oxide flux from Danish freshwater systems. But a different approach seems possible. As the nitrous oxide emission from these systems depend on the nitrogen loading the data compiled by *Seitzinger* (1988) can be used to estimate the nitrous oxide emission.

The Danish streams, lakes, and freshwater marshes annually receive 140-145 kt N (1984-figure) from cultivated land, farms and other anthropogenic sources (*Danmarks Statistik*, 1990). The rivers and the Danish lakes referred to by *Seitzinger* (1988) removes 7-35% of the nitrogen input by denitrification. The ratio of  $N_2O:N_2$  emission from freshwater systems are determined by e.g. oxygen and hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S) concentration, pH, and nitrogen input but is usually less than 5% (*Seitzinger*, 1988). An average  $N_2O:N_2$  ratio of 1% is considered reasonable for Danish conditions. This gives a total nitrous oxide emission from Danish freshwater systems of 0.1-0.5 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>.

**Trends** 

About 90% of the nitrogen input to freshwater systems in Denmark comes from farms and cropland (*Danmarks Statistik et al.*, 1990). According to a major national environmental plan the nitrogen input to freshwater systems from agriculture will be halved by 1990 (*Danmarks Statistik et al.*, 1990), but apparently this goal has not yet been achieved. If it is achieved by 1995 the total emission of nitrous oxide from freshwater systems will be then be 0.05-0.25 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>, corresponding to an annual decline of 0.01-0.05 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>.

However, the emission can not be expected to drop at the same rate as the nitrogen input. It is more likely to drop at a slower rate because of the time-lag induced by the turnover time of nitrogen in the sediments of freshwater systems. On this background the annual decline is estimated to 0.005-0.05 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>.

Denmark has 47 000 ha of lakes, 50 000 ha of freshwater marshes, bogs etc., and 40 000 km of streams (*Danmarks Statistik et al.*, 1990). If the average width of the streams is estimated to 1.5 meter the total area of freshwater systems is 103 000 ha. If the range in emission rates from appendix 3 are applied to this area, it results in a total emission of nitrous oxide from freshwater systems of 0.01-0.3 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>. This value is lower than the value estimated from N-input. The reason for this could be that the sites in appendix 3 are not as heavily eutrophicated as Danish freshwater systems.

#### 5.7. Coastal and marine areas

Open sea

The marine area within Danish territorial limits is 10 400 000 ha (Skov- og Naturstyrelsen, 1988) which is 0.029% of the global area of oceans.

No nitrous oxide emission rates for open seas comparable to Danish conditions could be found. Using the total global emission from oceans of 1-4.4 Tg N-N<sub>2</sub>O yr<sup>-1</sup> (Bolle et al., 1986; Bouwman, 1990; Law, Owens, 1990) the emission from Danish seas is 0.3-1.3 kt N-N<sub>2</sub>O yr<sup>-1</sup>. As the sea surrounding Denmark is generally very productive and nutrient rich compared to a global average the higher value is probably the most realistic.

Since 1980 the concentration of dissolved nitrogen in Danish seas within the northern-most part of Jutland (an area covering 60 000 000 ha (Skov- og Naturstyrelsen, 1988)) has increased with an average rate of about 4% yr<sup>-1</sup> (Danmarks Statistik et al., 1990). As the nitrous oxide emission probably increases with nitrogen loading an annual increase in emission of nitrous oxide from Danish seas of 4% yr<sup>-1</sup> or 0.05 kt yr<sup>-1</sup> is expected. This increase will probably phase out some time in the future when the nitrogen input from anthropogenic land-based sources decreases according to the national plan for lowering the eutrophication of fresh- and saltwater systems.

Coastal areas

The many fjords, estuaries and other shallow brackish or saltwater areas in Denmark hold a great potential for nitrous oxide emission. *Jørgensen and Sørensen* (1985) reported emissions of 1.4 and 15 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for a shallow Danish estuary.

Unfortunately, a nationwide geodetic survey of the shallow waters surrounding Denmark has never been carried out so areal data covering these areas are not available (*Plato*, 1991). If an emission rate of 5 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> and an estimated area of shallow coastal areas of 200 000 ha are used, it results in a total nitrous oxide emission from coastal areas of 1 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>.

Salt and brackish marshes and meadows Results from a Danish marine meadow of low salinity and a subtropical salt and brackish marsh in USA give emission rates of 1.3 and 0.3-0.5 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (appendix 4). An emission rate of 1 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> is indicative of the size of the average emission rate from such areas.

42 000 ha of Denmark are covered by salt and brackish marshes and meadows (*Danmarks Statistik et al.*, 1990) which are then estimated to emit a total of 0.04 kt yr<sup>-1</sup> of nitrous oxide.

#### 6. Discussion

Total emission

The estimated emissions of nitrous oxide in Denmark from the different natural and agriculture-related sources are summarized in table 1. The total emission amounts to about 13 kt N-N<sub>2</sub>O per year. This emission plus the emission from other anthropogenic sources (which is not the scope of this study) has to be compared to the atmospheric destruction of nitrous oxide. For a total global destruction of 10.5 Tg yr<sup>-1</sup> (*Bouwman*, 1990) the destruction "above" Danish land plus sea territory would be approximately 3 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>. Clearly, on a relative global scale Denmark must rank high among contributors of atmospheric nitrous oxide.

Other investigations

The *EEC* has within the CORINAIR project also tried to estimate nitrous oxide emissions in Denmark. Their total emission from natural and agriculturel-related sources is 20 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>. Their estimate is rather rough and e.g. only operates with a single emission factor for all cultivated lands, and this emission factor (4.5 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) is probably too high. The emission factor 5.4 kg N-N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for coniferous forests also seem very high. The CORINAIR emission factors are European averages which does not, however, imply that they can be used for Danish conditions. On the other hand the CORINAIR estimate does not include emission from marine systems, drainage water, groundwater and terrestrial areas like heathland.

Table 1. Estimated annual emission of nitrous oxide from natural and agriculture-related sources in Denmark.

Es	timated annual emission (kt N-N <sub>2</sub> O)	Estimated range (kt N-N <sub>2</sub> 0)	Estimated annual change (kt N-N2O yr 1)
Cultivated land	7.7	3-15	-0.050.03
Forest	0.4	0.04-4	+0.002
Other land areas	0.04	0.01-0.1	ns
Drainage water	1.9	0.1-5	ns
Groundwater	?	?	?
Freshwater systems	0.3	0.01-2	-0.050.005
Open sea	1.3	0.1-10	0- +0.05
Shallow coastal areas	1	0.1-10	?
Salt & brackish marshes	0.04	tr-0.4	ns
Sum	12.7		

ns= the change is probably insignificant relative to the total emission from Denmark.

tr= trace amounts.

<sup>?=</sup> the figure can not be estimated at the present.

The role of fertilizers

The estimated ranges in Table 1 indicate that a high degree of uncertainty is connected to each of the emission rates. However, the estimated emissions indicate that cultivated land is the main source of nitrous oxide in Denmark.

But, more important, fertilizer use and fertilizer induced eutrophication seem to be a key factor contributing significantly to the fluxes from cultivated land, drainage water, and freshwater as well as marine systems. The fertilizer-related emission is probably responsible for 25-50% of the total emission from natural and agriculture-related sources.

National budget

Even if the fertilizer-related emission is taken out of the total emission the emission from natural sources is well above the atmospheric sink strength over Danish territory. This seems likely as Danish soils and coastal areas are quite productive by global standards.

Summarizing the estimated annual change in emission from the different sources (Table 1) indicates that a minor annual decrease (approximately 0.04 kt yr<sup>-1</sup>) in total emission will take place in the years to come. This decrease equals about 0.3% of the total emission from the sources included in this study. But due to the long lifetime of atmospheric nitrous oxide and to the intense use of fertilizers the total Danish sources are elevated so much above unperturbed steady-state natural source-strength that Denmark for years will continue as a contributor to the increasing atmospheric concentration of nitrous oxide.

Possible reductions

It is not realistic to reduce the emission of nitrous oxide to natural levels as N-fertilization is an integrated part of Danish agriculture. But significant reductions seem possible. The emission from freshwater systems, shallow coastal waters and partly from the open sea will probably be reduced by measures already taken against the eutrophication of these systems.

The emission from cultivated land could be reduced by a reduction in the amount of applied N-fertilizer and perhaps also by changes in the kind of fertilizers used. If e.g. the 80.2 kt of anhydrous ammonia used annually was replaced by an equal amount of ammonium nitrate a reduction of emission by 1.8 kt nitrous oxide per year might be achieved. However, more research is needed to establish the potential of anhydrous ammonia as a source of nitrous oxide.

The use of anhydrous ammonia has decreased significantly during the 1980's as the use in 1982 and 1985 were 153.7 kt and 96.7 kt respectively (*Danmarks Statistik*, 1983, 1986) compared to the 80.2 kt used in 1989. This trend in the use of anhydrous ammonia might continue in the next years, but measures should be taken to reduce the use even further, if the potential of anhydrous ammonia as a source of nitrous oxide is established.

Gaps in knowledge

Table 1 indicates that several gaps exist in our knowledge of nitrous oxide emission from natural and agriculture-related sources. Further research has to adress these gaps if we are to understand the emission of nitrous oxide from Denmark.

Especially, the potential of drainage water and groundwater as sources of nitrous oxide and the emission from freshwater systems and shallow coastal areas should be monitored, all of them with a special focus on the influence of N-fertilizers. Other areas to adress are the possible impact of deposition of atmospheric nitrogen on nitrous oxide loss from forested areas and the loss of N-fertilizers as nitrous oxide from cultivated land.

### 7. Conclusion

The estimated emissions of nitrous oxide in Denmark indicate that cultivated land is the major source, and that the widespread use of N-fertilizer in agriculture has profound effects on the total emission. The present total Danish source strength is elevated much above natural unperturbed steadystate source-strength.

It seems unrealistic to reduce the present total emissions to natural levels. But the emission caused by N-fertilizer induced eutrophication will probably be reduced by national measures already being taken to reduce the eutrophication of aquatic systems. If future research establishes the importance of anhydrous ammonia as a source of nitrous oxide measures should be taken to significantly reduce the use of anhydrous ammonia by changing to the use of e.g. ammonium nitrate.

It is important that future research will address the gaps in our understanding of nitrous oxide emission in Denmark in order to make recommandations for a further reduction in emission rates.

## 8. References

Α

Arah, J.R.M., Smith, K.A. (1990). Factors influencing the fraction of the gaseous products of soil denitrification evolved to the atmosphere as nitrous oxide. In: *Bouwman*, A.F., ed. (1990). Soils and the greenhouse effect. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester. 575 pp.

B

Banin, A. (1986). Global budget of nitrous oxide. The role of soils and their change. Sci. Total Environ. 55, 27-38.

Banin, A., Lawless, J.G., Whitten, R.C. (1984). Global N<sub>2</sub>O cycles - terrestrial emissions, atmospheric accumulation and biospheric effects. Adv. Space Res. 4, 207-216.

Beck, H., Christensen, S. (1987). The effect of grass maturing and root decay on N<sub>2</sub>O production in soil. Plant & Soil 103, 269-273.

Benckiser, G., Gaus, G., Syring, K.-M., Haider, K., Sauerbeck, D. (1987). Denitrification losses from an inceptisol field treated with mineral fertilizer or sewage sludge. Z. Pflanzenernähr. Bodenk. 150, 241-248.

Blackmer, A.M., Bremner, J.M. (1976). Potential of soil as a sink for atmospheric nitrous oxide. Geophys. Res. Lett. 3, 739-742.

Bolle, H.-J., Seiler, W., Bolin, B. (1986). Other greenhouse gasses and aerosols. Assessing their role for atmospheric radiative transfer. In: Bolin, B., Döös, B.R., Jäger, J., Warrick, R.A., eds. (1986). The greenhouse effect, climatic change and ecosystems. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester. 541 pp.

Bouwman, A.F. (1989). The role of soils and land use in the greenhouse effect. Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science 37, 13-19.

Bouwman, A.F. (1990). Exchange of greenhouse gases between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere. In: Bouwman, A.F., ed. (1990). Soils and the greenhouse effect. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester. 575 pp.

Bowden, W.B., Bormann, F.M. (1986). Transport and loss of nitrous oxide in soil water after forest clear-cutting. Science 233, 867-869.

Bowden, R.D., Steudler, P.A., Mellilo, J.M. (1990). Annual nitrous oxide fluxes from temperate forest soils in the northeastern United States. J. Geophys. Res. 95D, 13997-14005.

Breitenbeck, G.A., Blackmer, A.M., Blackmer, J.M. (1980). Effects of different nitrogen fertilizers on emission of nitrous oxide from soils. Geophys. Res. Lett. 7, 85-88.

Breitenbeck, G.A., Bremner, J.M. (1986a). Effects of various nitrogen fertilizers on emission of nitrous oxide from soils. Biol. Fertil. Soils 2, 195-199.

Breitenbeck, G.A., Bremner, J.M. (1986b). Effects of rate and depth of fertilizer application on emission of nitrous oxide from soil fertilized with anhydrous ammonia. Biol. Fertil. Soils 2, 201-204.

Bremner, J.M., Breitenbeck, G.A., Blackmer, A.M. (1981). Effects of anhydrous ammonia on emission of nitrous oxide from soils. J. Environ. Qual. 10, 77-80.

Bremner, J.M., Blackmer, A.M. (1981). Terrestrial nitrification as a source of atmospheric nitrous oxide. In: Delwiche, C.C., ed. (1981). Denitrification, nitrification and atmospheric nitrous oxide. John Wiley and Sons, New York. 286 pp.

Bremner, J.M., Robbins, S.G., Blackmer, A.M. (1980). Seasonal variability in emission of nitrous oxide from soil. Geophys. Res. Lett. 7, 641-644.

Brice, K.A., Eggleton, A.E.J., Penkett, S.A. (1977). An important ground surface sink for atmospheric nitrous oxide. Nature 268, 127-128.

Brunke, E.-G., Scheel, H.E., Seiler, W. (1990). Trends of tropospheric CO,  $N_2O$  and  $CH_4$  as observed at Cape Point, South Africa. Atmos. Environ. 24A, 585-595.

Burford, J.R., Dowdell, R.J., Crees, R. (1981). Emission of nitrous oxide to the atmosphere from direct-drilled and ploughed clay soils. J. Sci. Food Agric. 32, 219-223.

Cates, R.L. jr., Keeney, D.R. (1987a). Nitrous oxide emission from native and reestablished prairies in southern Wisconsin. American Midland Naturalist 117, 35-42.

 $\mathbf{C}$ 

Cates, R.L. jr., Keeney, D.R. (1987b). Nitrous oxide production throughout the year from fertilized and manured maize fields. J. Environ. Qual. 16, 443-447.

Chan, Y.K., Knowles. R. (1979). Measurement of denitrification in two fresh-

water sediments by an in situ acetylene inhibition method. Appl. Envir. Microbiol, 37, 1067-1072.

Christensen, S. Institute of Population Biology, University of Copenhagen. Personal communication.

Christensen, S. (1981). N<sub>2</sub>O-formation during soil cropping. In: Golterman,-H.L., ed. (1981). NATO Conference Series I: Ecology. Plenum Press, New York. 294 pp.

Christensen, S. (1983). Nitrous oxide emission from a soil under permanent grass: Seasonal and diurnal fluctuations as influenced by manuring and fertilization. Soil Biol. Biochem. 15, 531-536.

Christensen, S. (1985a). Denitrification in an acid soil: Effects of slurry and potassium nitrate on the evolution of nitrous oxide and on nitrate-reducing bacteria. Soil Biol. Biochem. 17, 757-764.

Christensen, S. (1985b). Denitrification in a sandy loam soil as influenced by climatic and soil conditions. Tidsskr. Planteavl 89, 351-365.

Christensen, S. (1990). Spatial variation in denitrification. Dependency of activity centers on the soil environment. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 54.

Christensen, S., Groffmann, P., Mosier, A., Zak, D.R. (1991). Rhizosphere denitrification. A minor process but indicator of decomposition activity. In: Revsbech, N.P., Sørensen, J. (1991). Denitrification in soil and sediment. Plenum Publ. Corp., N.Y.

Christensen, S., Tiedje, J.M. (1990). Brief and vigorous N<sub>2</sub>O production by soil at spring thaw. Journal of Soil Science 41, 1-4.

Cicerone, R.J. (1987). Changes in atmospheric ozone. Science 237, 37-42.

Cohen, Y. (1978). Consumption of dissolved nitrous oxide in an anoxic basin, Saanich Inlet, British Columbia. Nature 272, 235-237.

Colbourn, P., Iqbal, M.M., Harper, I.W. (1984). Estimation of the total gaseous nitrogen losses from clay soils under laboratory and field conditions. Journal of Soil Science 135, 11-22.

Conrad, R., Seiler, W., Bunse, G. (1983). Factors influencing the loss of

fertilizer nitrogen into the atmosphere as  $N_2O$ . J. Geophys. Res. 88C, 6709-6-718.

D Danmarks Statistik (1983). Landbrugsstatistik 1982. (Agricultural Statistics 1982 (in Danish). Danmarks Statistik, Copenhagen. 345 pp.

Danmarks Statistik (1986). Landbrugsstatistik 1985. (Agricultural Statistics 1985) (in Danish). Danmarks Statistik, Copenhagen. 330 pp.

Danmarks Statistik (1990). Landbrugsstatistik 1989. (Agricultural Statistics 1989) (in Danish). Danmarks Statistik, Copenhagen. 305 pp.

Danmarks Statistik, Miljøstyrelsen, Skov- og Naturstyrelsen (1990). Tal om natur og miljø. (Data on nature, and the environment) (in Danish). Danmarks Statistik, Miljøstyrelsen and Skov- og Natursyrelsen, Copenhagen. 200 pp.

Denmead, O.T., Freney, J.R., Simpson, J.R. (1979). Studies of nitrous oxide emission from a grassland sward. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 43, 726-728.

Dickinson, R.E., Cicerone, R.J. (1986). Future global warming from atmospheric trace gases. Nature 319, 109-115.

Dowdell, R.J., Burford, J.R., Crees, R. (1979). Losses of nitrous oxide dissolved in drainage water from agricultural land. Nature 278, 342-343.

Duxbury, J.M., Bouldin, D.R., Terry, R.E., Tate, R.L. (1982). Emissions of nitrous oxide from soils. Nature 298, 462-464.

Egginton, G.M., Smith, K.A. (1986a). Nitrous oxide emission from a grassland soil fertilized with slurry and calcium nitrate. Journal of Soil Science 37, 59-67.

E

Egginton, G.M., Smith, K.A. (1986b). Losses of nitrogen by denitrification from a grassland soil fertilized with cattle slurry and calcium nitrate. Journal of Soil Science 37, 69-80.

Eichner, M.J. (1990). Nitrous oxide emissions from fertilized soils: Summary of available data. J. Environ. Qual. 19, 272-280.

Elkins, J.W., Wofsy, S.C., McElroy, M.B., Kolb, C.E., Kaplan, W.A. (1978). Aquatic sources and sinks for nitrous oxide. Nature 275, 602-606.

Etheridge, D.M., Pearman, G.I., de Silva, F. (1988). Atmospheric trace-gas

variations as revealed by air trapped in an ice core from Law Dome, Antarctica. Ann. Glaciol. 10, 28-33.

G Galbally, I.E. (1985). The emission of nitrogen to the remote atmosphere: Background paper. In: Galloway, J.N. et al., eds. (1985). The biochemical cycling of sulfur and nitrogen in the remote atmosphere. D. Reidel Publishing Co., Netherland. 249 pp.

Goodroad, L.L., Keeney, D.R. (1984a). Nitrous oxide emissions from forest, marsh, and prairie ecosystems. J. Environ. Qual. 13, 448-452.

Goodroad, L.L., Keeney, D.R. (1984b). Nitrous oxide production in aerobic soils under varying pH, temperature and water content. Soil Biol. Biochem. 16, 39-43.

Goodroad, L.L., Keeney, D.R. (1985). Site of nitrous oxide production in field soils. Biol. Fert. Soils 1, 3-7.

Goodroad, L.L., Keeney, D.R., Peterson, L.A. (1984). Nitrous oxide emissions from agricultural soils in Wisconsin. J. Environ. Qual. 13, 557-561.

Hao, W.M., Wofsy, S.C., McElroy, M.B., Beer, J.M., Toqan, M.A. (1987). Sources of atmospheric nitrous oxide from combustion. J. Geophys. Res. 92C, 3098-3104.

Hedegaard, H. Dansk Skovforening (Danish Forestry). Copenhagen. Personal communication.

Hutchinson, G.L., Mosier, A.R. (1979). Nitrous oxide emissions from an irrigated cornfield. Science 205, 1125-1127.

Jensen, K.M., Reenberg, A. (1986). Landbrugsatlas Danmark (Danish agricultural atlas) (in Danish). Det Kongelige Danske Geografiske Selskab, Copenhagen. 118 pp.

Jørgensen, B.B., Sørensen, J. (1985). Seasonal cycles of  $O_2$ ,  $NO_3$ ,  $SO_4$  reduction in estuarine sediments: The significance of a  $NO_3$  reduction maximum in spring. In: Jørgensen, B.B., Sørensen, J. (1985).  $H_2S$  and  $N_2O$  production in coastal sediment and the regulation of their emission into the atmosphere. Institute of Ecology and Genetics, Aarhus. 12 pp + 82 pp appendices.

Kaplan, W. (1984). Sources and sinks of nitrous oxide. In: Klug, M.J., Reddy,

J

Η

K C.A., eds. (1984). Current perspectives in microbial ecology. American Society for Microbiology, USA.

Keller, M., Goreau, T.J., Wofsy, S.C., Kaplan, W.A., McElroy, M.B. (1983). Production of nitrous oxide and consumption of methane by forest soils. Geophys. Res. Lett. 10, 1156-1159.

Keller, M., Kaplan, W.A., Wofsy, S.C., Da Costa, J.M. (1988). Emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O from tropical forest soils: Response to fertilization with NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, and PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup>. J. Geophys. Res. 93D, 1600-1604.

Khalil, M.A.K., Rasmussen, R.A. (1983). Increase and seasonal cycles of nitrous oxide in the Earth's atmosphere. Tellus 35B, 161-169.

Khalil, M.A.K., Rasmussen, R.A. (1986). Atmospheric trace gases: Trends and distributions over the last decade. Science 232, 1623-1624.

Khalil, M.A.K., Rasmussen, R.A. (1988). Nitrous oxide: Trends and global mass balance over the last 3000 years. Ann. Glaciol. 10, 73-79.

Khalil, M.A.K., Rasmussen, R.A. (1989). Climate-induced feedbacks for the global cycles of methane and nitrous oxide. Tellus 41B, 554-559.

Klemedtsson, L., Svensson, B.H. (1988). Effects of acid deposition on denitrification and  $N_2$ O-emission from forest soils. Miljørapport 15, 343-362.

Klemedtsson, L., Svensson, B.H., Rosswall, T. (1987). Dinitrogen and nitrous oxide produced by denitrification and nitrification in soil with and without barley plants. Plant and Soil 99, 303-319.

Klemedtsson, L., Svensson, B.H., Rosswall, T. (1988). A method of selective inhibition to distinguish between nitrification and denitrification as sources of nitrous oxide in soil. Biol. Fertil. Soils. 6, 112-119.

Knowles, R. (1985). Microbial transformations as sources and sinks for nitrogen oxides. In: Caldwell, D.E., Brierley, J.A., Brierley, C.L., eds. (1985). Planetary ecology. Van Nostrand Reihold Co., New York. 591 pp.

Lashof, D.A., Ahuja, D.R. (1990) Relative contributions of greenhouse gas emissions to global warming. Nature 344, 529-531.

Law, C.S., Owens, N.J.R. (1990). Significant flux of atmospheric nitrous oxide from the northwest Indian Ocean. Nature 346, 826-828.

33

L

Martikainen, P.J. (1985). Nitrous oxide emission associated with autotrophic ammonium oxidation in acid coniferous forest soil. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 50, 1519-1525.

M

Minami, K. (1987). Emission of nitrous oxide from agro-ecosystems. Jpn. Agric. Res. Q. 21, 22-27.

Minami, K., Fukushi, S. (1986). Emission of nitrous oxide from a well-aerated andosol treated with nitrite and hydroxylamine. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 32, 233-237.

Minami, K., Fukushi, S. (1984). Methods for measuring N<sub>2</sub>O flux from water surface and N<sub>2</sub>O dissolved in water from agricultural land. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 30, 495-502.

Minami, K., Ohsawa, A. (1990). Emission of nitrous oxide dissolved in drainage water from agricultural land. In: Bouwman, A.F., ed. (1990). Soils and the greenhouse effect. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester. 575 pp.

Mitchell, J.B. (1989). The "greenhouse" effect and climate change. Reviews of Geophysics 27, 115-140.

Mosier, A.R., Hutchinson, G.L. (1981). Nitrous oxide emissions from cropped fields. J. Environ. Qual. 10, 169-173.

Mosier, A.R., Hutchinson, G.L., Sabey, B.R., Baxter, J. (1982). Nitrous oxide emissions from barley plots treated with ammonium nitrate or sewage sludge. J. Environ. Qual. 11, 78-81.

Mosier, A.R., Stillwell, M., Parton, W.J., Woodmansee, R.G. (1981). Nitrous oxide emissions from a native shortgrass prairie. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 45, 617-619.

Muzio, L.J., Kramlich, J.C. (1988). An artifact in the measurement of nitrous oxide from combustion sources. Geophys. Res. Lett. 15, 1369-1372.

N

Nommik, H., Larsson, K. (1989). Measurement of denitrification rate in undisturbed soil cores under different temperature and moisture conditions using 15N tracer techniques, 2: Factors affecting denitrification. Swedish Journal of Agricultural Research 19, 35-44.

*Parkin, T.B.* (1987). Soil microsites as a source of denitrification variability. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 51, 1194-1199.

P

Parton, W.J., Mosier, A.R., Schimel, D.S. (1988). Rates and pathways of nitrous oxide production in a shortgrass steppe. Biogeochem. 6, 45-58.

Pearman, G.I., Etheridge, D., de Silva, F., Fraser, P.J. (1986). Evidence of changing concentrations of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> from air bubbles in Antarctic ice. Nature 320, 248-250.

Plantedirektoratet (1990). Fortegnelse over fabrikanter og importører 1990 af gødninger og grundforbedringsmidler m.m. (list of manufactures and importers of fertilizers etc.) (in Danish). Plantedirektoratet, Lyngby. 120 pp.

*Plato, S.W.P.* Ministry of Agriculture, Research Centre, FOT Agriculture, Department of Land data and Mapping. Landbrugsministeriets Arealdatakontor, Vejle. Personal communication.

Plum, P.M. National Forest and Nature Agency, Hørsholm. Personal communication.

Poth, M., Focht, D.D. (1985). 15N kinetic analysis of N<sub>2</sub>O production by Nitrosomonas europaea: An examination of nitrifier denitrification. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 49, 1134-1141.

Prinn, R., Cunnold, D., Rasmussen, R., Simmonds, P., Alyea, F., Crawford, A., Fraser, P., Rosen, R. (1990). Atmospheric emissions and trends of nitrous oxide deduced from 10 years of ALE-GAGE data. J. Geophys. Res. 95D, 18369-18385.

Ramanathan, V., Callis, L., Cess, R., Hansen, J., Isaksen, I., Kuhn, W., Lacis, A., Luther, F., Mahlman, J., Reck, R., Schlesinger, M. (1987). Climate-chemical interactions and effects of changing atmospheric trace gases. Reviews of Geophysics 25, 1441-1482.

Ramanathan, V., Cicerone, R.J., Singh, H.B., Kiehl, J.T. (1985). Trace gas trends and their potential role in climate change. J. Geophys. Res. 90D, 5547-5566.

Richards, B.N. (1987). The microbiology of terrestrial ecosystems. Longman, U.K. 399 pp.

Robertson, G.P., Tiedje, J.M. (1984). Denitrification and nitrous oxide production in successional and old-growth Michigan forests. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 48, 383-389.

R

Robertson, G.P., Tiedje, J.M. (1987). Nitrous oxide sources in aerobic soils: Nitrification, denitrification and other biological processes. Soil. Biol. Biochem. 19, 187-193.

Rohde, H. (1990). A comparison of the contribution of various gases to the greenhouse effect. Science 248, 1217-1219.

Rolston, D.E., Hoffmann, D.L., Toy, D.W. (1978). Field measurement of denitrification: I. Flux of N<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 42, 863-869.

Ronen, D., Magaritz, M., Almon, E. (1988). Contaminated aquifers are a forgotten component of the global N<sub>2</sub>O budget. Nature 335, 57-59.

Ryden, J.C. (1981). N<sub>2</sub>O exchange between a grassland soil and the atmosphere. Nature 292, 235-237.

Ryden, J.C. (1983). Denitrification loss from a grassland soil in the field - receiving different rates of nitrogen as ammonium nitrate. Journal of Soil Science 34, 355-365.

Ryden, J.C., Lund, L.J. (1980). Nature and extent of directly measured denitrification losses from some irrigated crop production units. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 44, 505-511.

Sahrawat, K.L., Keeney, D.R. (1986). Nitrous oxide emssion from soils. Advances in Soil Sciences 4, 103-148.

Schmidt, J., Seiler, W., Conrad, R. (1988). Emission of nitrous oxide from temperate forest soils into the atmosphere. Journal of Atmospheric Chemistry 6, 95-115.

Seitzinger, S.P. (1988). Denitrification in freshwater and coastal marine ecosystems: Ecological and geochemical significance. Limnol. Oceanogr. 33, 702-724.

Seitzinger, S., Nixon, S., Pilson, M.E.Q., Burke, S. (1980). Denitrification and N<sub>2</sub>O production in nearshore marine sediments. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta. 44, 1853-1860.

Skov- og Naturstyrelsen (1988). Naturen i Danmark - Status og udviklingstendenser. (The Danish countryside - current status and development tendencies) (in Danish). Skov- og Naturstyrelsen, Hørsholm. 88 pp.

S

Skov- og Naturstyrelsen (1990). Besvarelse af spørgsmål 97 til Folketingets Miljø- og Planlægningsudvalg. 2 pp.

Smith, C.J., DeLaune, R.D., Patrick, W.H. jr. (1982). Nitrous oxide emission from Gulf Coast wetlands. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta. 47, 1805-1814.

Struwe, S., Kjøller, A. (1989). Field determination of denitrification in water-logged forest soils. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 62, 71-78.

Turner, D.P., Myrold, D.D., Bailey, J.D. (1990). Climate change and patterns of denitrification in the Willamette Basin of Western Oregon, USA. In: *Bouwman*, A.F., ed. (1990). Soils and the greenhouse effect. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester. 575 pp.

T

Umarov, M.M. (1990). Biotic sources of nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) in the context of the global budget of nitrous oxide. In: Bouwman, A.F., ed. (1990). Soils and the greenhouse effect. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester. 575 pp.

U

Van Breemen, N., Feijtel, T.C.J. (1990). Soil processes and properties involved in the production of greenhouse gases, with special relevance to soil taxonomic systems. In: *Bouwman*, A.F., ed. (1990). Soils and the greenhouse effect. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester. 575 pp.

V

Vinther, F.P. (1984). Total denitrification and the ratio between  $N_2O$  and  $N_2$  during the growth of spring barley. Plant and Soil, 77, 227-232.

Wang, W.-C., Sze, N.D. (1980). Coupled effects of atmospheric N<sub>2</sub>O and O<sub>3</sub> on the Earth's climate. Nature 286, 589-590.

W

Webster, C.P., Dowdell, R.J. (1982). Nitrous oxide emission from permanent grass swards. J. Sci. Food Agric. 33, 227-230.

Weier, K.L., Gilliam, J.W. (1986). Effect of acidity on denitrification and nitrous oxide evolution from atlantic coastal plain soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 50, 1202-1205.

Weiss, R.F. (1981). The temporal and spatial distribution of tropospheric nitrous oxide. J. Geophys. Res. 86, 7185-7195.

Zardini, D., Raynaud, D., Sharfe, D., Seiler, W. (1989). N<sub>2</sub>O measurements of air extracted from antarctic ice cores; Implication on atmospheric N<sub>2</sub>O back to the last glacial-interglacial transition. Journal of Atmospheric Chemistry 8, 189-201.

Z

## **Appendices**

Appendix 1a. Grasslands

Appendix 1b. Cropland

Appendix 2. Forests

Appendix 3. Freshwater systems

Appendix 4. Saltwater systems

Renarks	рн 6.7 рн 8.2	pH 6.5, imperfectly drained	pH 6.5, imperfectly drained pH 6.5, imperfectly drained	pH 6.2, dry soil	pH 6.2, moist soil	pH 6.5, imperfectly drained pH 6.5, imperfectly drained	pH 6.5, imperfectly drained	Soil constantly wet pH 6.0	Well drained Drainage restricted		Imperfectly drained Imperfectly drained	ph 6.5, imperiectly drained
Reference	Cates, Keeney (1987) Breitenbeck et al. (1980)	Egginton, Smith (1986b) Webster, Dowdell (1982)	Egginton, Smith (1986a) Egginton, Smith (1986b)	Duxbury et al. (1982) Denmead et al. (1979)	Denmead et al. (1979) Colbourn et al. (1984)	Egginton, Smith (1986a) Egginton, Smith (1986a)	Ryden (1983) Egginton, Smith (1986a)	Rolston et al. (1978) Christensen (1981)	Webster,Dowdell (1982) Webster,Dowdell (1982)	Mosier et al. (1981) Ryden (1983)	Egginton, Smith (1986b) Egginton, Smith (1986b)	Egginton, Smith (1986a)
Fertlizer type	1 1	1 1		1 1	- NE4NO <sub>3</sub>	NO3 NO3	NH4NO3 Organic	NO <sub>3</sub> Cow slurry	NO3 NO3	Urea NH4NO3	NO <sub>3</sub> Organic	Organic
Rmission rate (kg N-N <sub>2</sub> O ha yr )	0.3	0.8-2.7	1.3-5.8	16-97 0.2	2.2-9.1	0.5-2.0 2.6-11.2	3.5 0.5-2.0	1.8-4.3 50	4.0-6.0	8.08	13.4 8.6 1	1.2-5.3
Location	USA (Wisconsin) USA (Iowa)	U.K. U.K.	U.K. U.K.	USA (Florida) Australia	Australia U.K.	U.K. U.K.	U.K. U.K.	USA (California) Denmark (Askov)	U.K. U.K.	USA (Colorado) U.K.	U.K. U.K	U.K
lizer Soil type	Fine loamy (typic hapludalf)	Sandy loam over clay loam Clay/silt loam	Sandy loam over clay loam Sandy loam over clay loam	Organic (peat) soil Fine sandy loam over clay	Fine sandy loam over clay Heavy clay	Sandy loam over clay loam Sandy loam over clay loam	Loam ochraqualf Sandy loam over clay loam	Loam (typic xerothent) Sandy loam	Silt loam Clay loam	Loam, fine sandy loam Loam ochragualf	Sandy loam over clay loam Sandy loam over clay loam	Sandy loam over clay loam
N-fertilizer (kg N ha )	00	00	00	00	0 210	250 250	250 298	300 325	400 400	450 500	92 S	1230

Remarks	рн 6.5 рн 8.1	ph 6.5-8.1 ph 6.9-7.9 ph 6.0 ph 8.1 ph 8.1 ph 5.3	0.9 нд	рн 5.3 рн 8.1 рн 8.2 рн 8.2 рн 8.2
Reference	Ryden (1981) Mosier et al. (1982) Duxbury et al. (1982) Duxbury et al. (1982) Duxbury et al. (1982)	Bremner et al. (1980) Breitenbeck, Bremner (1986a) Christensen (1981) Mosier et al. (1982) Mosier et al. (1982) Christensen (1985b)	Goodroad et al. (1984) Christensen (1981) Burford et al. (1981) Burford et al. (1981) Burford et al. (1981)	Christensen (1985b) Mosier et al. (1982) Benckiser et al. (1987) Breitenbeck et al. (1980) Breitenbeck et al. (1980) Breitenbeck et al. (1980) Duxbury et al. (1982)
Fertilizer type		- NH4NO3 NH4NO3 Organic NH4NO3	NH4NO3 COW Slurry NH4NO3 NH4NO3 NH4NO3 NH4NO3	2:1 Org./NH4NO3 NH4NO3 NH4NO3 NO3 NH3/NH4 Urea Organic
Emission rate (kg $N-N_2O$ ha $\gamma$ r	-0.6 1.2 2.3-4.2 0.9-1.7 7-48 59-165	0.3-2.0 0.4-0.7 2.6 2.2 2.5 3-20	0.2-2.2 4.5 0.5-1.0 0.9-5.6 1.5-2.1 5.4-8.6	4-11 2.5 4 1.4 2.5 1.9 1.6-3.8 2.2-2.9
Location	U.K. USA (Colorado) USA (New York) USA (New York) USA (Florida) USA (Florida)	USA (Iowa) USA (Iowa) Denmark (Askov) USA (Colorado) USA (Colorado) Denmark (Roskilde)	USA (Wisconsin) Denmark (Askov) U.K. U.K. U.K.	Denmark (Roskilde) USA (Colorado) Germany USA (Iowa) USA (Iowa) USA (New York) USA (New York)
Crop	Weeds Barley Alfalfa Weeds Sugar cane	Soybean ? Barley Barley Barley	Cabbage Barley ? ? ? ?	Barley Barley Wheat Uncropped Bare soil Corn
lizer Soil type	Loam, ochragualf Ustic torriorthents Silt loam Silt loam Oragnic (peat) soil Organic (peat) soil	Clay loam Haplaquolls/calciaquolls Sandy loam Sandy loam Ustic torriorthents Sandy loam	Silt loam/typic argiudolls Sandy loam Heavy clay Heavy clay Heavy clay	Sandy loam Ustic torriorthents Silty sand (inceptisol) Clay loam Clay loam Clay loam Silt loam
N-fertilizer (kg N ha 1)	000000	0 0 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	80 105 105 105 105	107 112 120 125 125 125 130

Remarks	рн 5.3 рн 6.0	ph 6.9-7.9 ph 6.9-7.9 ph 6.9-7.9 ph 7.9	рн 6.7 рн 6.8	рн 8.1 рн 6.7 рн 6.8 рн 8.2 рн 8.2	Constantly wet Constantly wet pH 8.1 pH 6.8	pH 5.3 Irrigated pH 6.8 Irrigated Irrigated
Reference	Christensen (1985b) Christensen (1981) Duxbury et al. (1982) Duxbury et al. (1982)	Breitenbeck, Bremner (1986a) Breitenbeck, Bremner (1986a) Breitenbeck, Bremner (1986a) Breitenbeck, Bremner (1986a)	Cates, Keeney (1987b) Mosier, Hutchinson (1981) Goodroad et al. (1984) Colbourn et al. (1984)	Mosier et al. (1982) Cates, Keeney (1987b) Goodroad et al. (1984) Breitenbeck et al. (1980) Breitenbeck et al. (1980) Breitenbeck et al. (1980)	Rolston et al. (1978) Rolston et al. (1978) Mosier et al. (1982) Goodroad et al. (1984)	Christensen (1985b) Ryden,Lund (1980) Goodroad et al. (1984) Ryden,Lund (1980) Ryden,Lund (1980)
Fertilizer type	NEGNO3 NEGNO3 NEGNO3 NEGNO3	Anhydrous NH <sub>3</sub> Aguous NH <sub>3</sub> Urea CaNO <sub>3</sub>	Organic NB3/NB4 NB4NO3 NB4NO3	NH4NO3 Organic 2:1 Org./NH4NO3 NO3 NH3/NH4 Urea	NO <sub>3</sub> NO <sub>3</sub> Organic 4:1 Org./NH <sub>4</sub> NO <sub>3</sub>	3:1 NH4NO <sub>3</sub> /Org. NO <sub>3</sub> S1udge NO <sub>3</sub>
Enission rate (kg $N-N_2^0$ )	6-41 5.2 76-152 72-85	1.9-4.4 0.5-9.0 0.4-0.8 0.4	3.6 2.5 0.3-6.3 1.7-2.0	3.3 0.3-3.2 1.4.2.2 4.4.2.4.4.2	0.6-2.1 5.4-9.9 9.9 1.2-6.1	15-29 20-27 0.2-1.6 20-42 27-29
Location	Denmark (Roskilde) Denmark (Roskilde) USA (New York) USA (New York)	USA (IOWA) USA (IOWA) USA (IOWA) USA (IOWA)	USA (Wisconsin) USA (Colorado) USA (Wisconsin) U.K.	USA (Wisconsin) USA (Wisconsin) USA (Iowa) USA (Iowa) USA (Iowa)	USA (California) USA (California) USA (Colorado) USA (Wisconsin)	Denmark (Roskilde) USA (California) USA (Wisconsin) USA (California)
Crop	Barley Barley Sweetcorn Omions	a. a. a. a.	Corn Corn Corn Winterwheat	Barley Corn Cabbage Uncropped Uncropped	Uncropped Uncropped Barley Cabbage	Barley Artichokes Barley Lettuce Cauliflower
lizer Soil type a_)	Sandy loam Sandy loam Organic (peat) soil Organic (peat) soil	Haplaquolls/calciaquolls Haplaquolls/calciaquolls Haplaquolls/calciaquolls Calciaquolls	Fine loam Aridic argillstolls Silt loam (typic argiudolls) Heavy clay	Sandy loam Fine loam Silt loam (typic argiudolls) Clay loam Clay loam Clay loam	Loam (typic xerorthent) Loam (typic xerorthent) Sandy loam Silt loam (typic argindolls)	Sandy loam Fine loamy pachic haploxeroll Silt loam (typic argiudolls) Fine loamy pachic haploxeroll Fine loamy pachic haploxeroll
N-fertilizer (kg N ha )	160 160 170	180 180 180 180	181 200 200 210	224 237 245 250 250 250	300 300 356 410	424 430 440 620

Porest type	Soil type	Location	Emission rate (kg N-N <sub>2</sub> O ha yr 1)	Reference	. Forests
Deciduous Deciduous	Sandy brown soil Grey-brown podzol, loess	Germany Germany	0.4-0.9	Schmidt et al. (1988) Schmidt et al. (1988)	pH 3.7, 1-3 cm humus layer pH 3.6, 1-5 cm humus layer
Deciduous Deciduous Deciduous	Pseudogley soil, loess Grey-brown podzol, loess Brown soil, loess loam	Germany Germany Germany	0.5-6.6 0.5-0.7 0.1-0.3	Schmidt et al. (1988) Schmidt et al. (1988) Schmidt et al. (1988)	pH 3.4, 1-3 cm humus layer pH 3.7, 1-2 cm humus layer pH 4.7
Deciduous Deciduous Hardwood	Pelosol, loess loam Silt loam	Germany USA (New Hampshire) USA (New York)	0.4-0.9 0.15 0.9	Schmidt et al. (1988) Keller et al. (1983) Duxbury et al. (1982)	pH 6.7 65 years old trees
Hardwood Oak Beech	Sandy loam Loess over glacial till	USA (Massachusetts) USA (Misconsin) Denmark (Strødam)	0.02	Bowden et al. (1990) Goodroad, Keeney (1984a) Christensen (unpubl.)	pH 3.3, 80 years old, well drained pH 5.0
Beech Ash Alder Alder		Sweden Denmark Denmark Sweden	0.01-2.0 0.3 1.8 0.2-4.0	Klemedtsson, Svensson (1988) Struwe, Kjøller (1989) Struwe, Kjøller (1989) Klemedtsson, Svensson (1988)	100 years old, lower rates dominated pH 6.5-7.5, waterlogged pH 6.5-7.0, waterlogged
Pine Pine Spruce Spruce	Loess over glacial till Sandy loam	USA (Wisconsin) USA (Massachusetts) Denmark (Gribskov) Sweden	2.4-3.0 0.01 0.8 0.01-2.0	Goodroad, Keeney (1984a) Bowden et al. (1990) Christensen (unpubl.) Klemedtsson, Svensson (1988)	pH 4.5, 40 years old pH 3.2, 62 years old, welldrained 5-6 years old, clearcut site, lower rates dominated 40-60 years old, lower rates dominated
aon Ide		DAGGO	> 1 1> 1>		

## Appendix 3. Freshwater systems

Boosystem	Location	Emission rate (kg $N-N_2O$ $\begin{bmatrix} -1 & yr \end{bmatrix}$ )	Reference	Renarks
Meadow Wet meadow Marsh Marsh Marsh Drained marsh	Denmark (Viby Sj.) USA (Wisconsin) USA (Louisiana) USA (Louisiana) USA (Wisconsin) USA (Wisconsin)	0.6 2.7 0.55 0.35 0.1 5.7-13.1	Christensen (unpubl.) Goodroad, Keeney (1984a) Smith el al. (1983) Smith el al. (1983) Goodroad, Keeney (1984a) Goodroad, Keeney (1984a)	Disturbed sedge overgrown with reed canary grass Only lightly eutrophied Open water site, only lightly eutrophied pH 7.0, cattails (Typha angustifolia) dominating pH 6.1, old sedge meadow overgrown with bushes/small trees
APPENDIX 4. NITROUS (	APPENDIX 4. NITROUS OXIDE EMISSION RATES - TEMPERATE SALTWATER SYSTEMS.	TEMPERATE SALTWAT	ER SYSTEMS.	
Ecosystem	Location	Emission rate (kg N-N $_2$ 0 $-1$ ha $1$ yr $1$	Reference	Renarks
Brackish meadow Brackish stuary Brackish marsh Brackish marsh Salt marsh Salt marsh	Denmark (Sydamager) Denmark (Norsminde) USA (Louisiana) USA (Louisiana) USA (Louisiana) USA (Louisiana)	1.3 1.4-15 0.5 0.2 0.3 0.0	Christensen (unpubl.) Jørgensen, Sørensen (1985) Smith el al. (1983)	Low salinity Two sites: Salinity 0.05-0.8% & 0.8-2.3%. Little eutrophication Open Water site, little eutrophication Little eutrophication Open Water site, little eutrophication Relatively unpolluted

Boosystem	Location	Emission rate (kg N-N <sub>2</sub> 0 ha <sup>-1</sup> yr <sup>-1</sup> )	Reference	Renarks
meadow Wet meadow Marsh Marsh	Denmark (Viby S).) USA (Misconsin) USA (Louisiana) USA (Louisiana)	0.6 2.7 0.55 0.35	Christensen (unpubl.) Goodroad, Keeney (1984a) Smith el al. (1983) Smith el al. (1983)	Disturbed sedge overgrown with reed canary grass Only lightly eutrophied Open water site, only lightly eutrophied
Marsh Drained marsh	USA (Wisconsin) USA (Wisconsin)	0.1 5.7-13.1	Goodroad, Keeney (1984a) Goodroad, Keeney (1984a)	pH 7.0, cattails (Typha angustifolia) dominating pH 6.1, old sedge meadow overgrown with bushes/small trees
APPENDIX 4. NITROUS (	APPENDIX 4. NITROUS OXIDE EMISSION RATES - TEMPERATE SALTWATER SYSTEMS.	TEMPERATE SALTWAT	ER SYSTEMS.	
Ecosystem	Location	Emission rate (kg N-N $_2$ 0 ha $_1$ yr $_1$ )	Reference	Renarks
Brackish meadow Brackish estuary Brackish marsh Brackish marsh Salt marsh Salt marsh Marine sediment	Denmark (Sydamager) Denmark (Norsminde) USA (Louisiana) USA (Louisiana) USA (Louisiana) USA (Louisiana) USA (Louisiana)	1.3 1.4-15 0.5 0.2 0.3 0.1	Christensen (unpubl.) Jørgensen, Sørensen (1985) Smith el al. (1983) Smith el al. (1983) Smith el al. (1983) Smith el al. (1983)	Low salinity  Two sites: Salinity 0.05-0.8% & 0.8-2.3%.  Little eutrophication  Open water site, little eutrophication  Little eutrophication  Open water site, little eutrophication  Relatively unpolluted

#### **National Environmental Research Institute**

The National Environmental Research Institute - NERI - is a research institute of the Ministry of the Environment. Neri's tasks are primarily to do research, collect data and give advice on problems related to the environment and nature.

#### Addresses:

National Environmental Research Institute Frederiksborgvej 399 P.O. Box 358 DK-4000 Roskilde Denmark

Tel: +45 46 30 12 00 Fax: +45 46 30 11 14

National Environmental Research Institute Vejlsøvej 25 P.O. Box 413 DK-8600 Silkeborg Denmark

Tel: +45 89 20 14 00 Fax: +45 89 20 15 14

National Environmental Research Institute Grenåvej 12, Kalø DK-8410 Rønde Denmark

Tel: +45 89 20 14 00 Fax: +45 89 20 15 14

Management

Personnel and Economy Secretariat
Research and Development Secretariat
Department of Emissions and Air Pollution
Department of Environmental Ecology
Department of Policy Analysis
Department of Marine Ecology and
Microbiology

Department of Freshwater Ecology Department of Terrestrial Ecology

Department of Wildlife Ecology

#### **Publications:**

NERI publishes professional reports, technical instructions, reprints of scientific and professional articles, a magazine of game biology and the Annual Report.

Included in the annual report is a review of the publications from the year in question. The annual reports and an up-to-date review of the year's publications are available on application to NERI.